COA NO. 44417-8-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION TWO

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

ANGELA RODRIGUEZ,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON CLARK COUNTY

The Honorable Daniel L. Stahnke, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CASEY GRANNIS
Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC
1908 East Madison
Seattle, WA 98122
(206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The court miscalculated the offender score for the felony conviction.

2. The length of the suspended sentence and probation term for the gross misdemeanor conviction exceeds the statutory maximum.

3. The no contact orders entered as part of appellant's gross misdemeanor sentence exceed the statutory maximum. CP 58, 63-64.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Whether appellant's current gross misdemeanor conviction should not count in the offender score as a "repetitive domestic violence offense" because the legislature only intended such offenses to contribute to the offender score when they are actual prior offenses?

2. Whether the superior court lacked statutory authority to suspend the sentence and impose probation on appellant's gross misdemeanor conviction for five years, where the legislature has only granted that power to courts of limited jurisdiction?

3. Where the statutory maximum for the gross misdemeanor offense is less than five years, did the superior court exceed its statutory authority in ordering no contact with the victim for a period of five years?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Angela Rodriguez pled guilty to felony violation of a domestic violence court order (assault) under count I and a gross misdemeanor violation of a no-contact order under count II. CP 5-7, 14; RP¹ 3-7. Count I involved an assault on Rodriguez's father Brian Longoria and count II involved contact with her mother Danita Cash. CP 14; RP 8. A single incident formed the basis for both convictions. CP 14. Rodriguez had no prior violations of a no-contact order. CP 14.

The parties disputed the offender score for the felony conviction. CP 46-51. The State believed the offender score should be one point on the theory that Rodriguez had been convicted of a prior "repetitive domestic violence offense" under RCW 9.94A.525(21)(c). CP 46-47. The defense argued the offender score should be zero because the current offense for which Rodriguez had been convicted under count II did not count as a prior "repetitive domestic violence offense." CP 48-50.

The superior court agreed with the State and sentenced Rodriguez on count I to a term of 14 months based on an offender score of one point. CP 29-30; RP 11-19. The court also sentenced Rodriguez to 364 days in jail for the gross misdemeanor with 314 days suspended for a period of 60

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: RP - one volume consisting of 12/14/12 and 12/21/12.

months probation. CP 53, 56-57. The court further imposed no-contact orders pertaining to Rodriguez's father and mother for a period of five years. CP 27, 58, 61-64. This appeal timely follows. CP 43.

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE COURT WRONGLY INCLUDED THE CURRENT GROSS MISDEMEANOR OFFENSE IN THE OFFENDER SCORE BECAUSE IT DOES NOT QUALIFY AS A PRIOR "REPETITIVE DOMESTIC VIOLENCE OFFENSE" UNDER THE SENTENCING REFORM ACT.

The superior court erred in concluding Rodriguez's offender score was one point instead of zero. The current misdemeanor offense of violating a no-contact order under count II does not qualify as a "repetitive domestic violence offense" under RCW 9.94A.525 for offender score purposes. The legislature intended that provision to apply only to misdemeanor domestic violence convictions that are true prior convictions, not current convictions. Remand is appropriate to enable the superior court to resentence Rodriguez based on an offender score of zero.

a. The Standard Of Review Is De Novo.

Offender scores are reviewed de novo. State v. Tili, 148 Wn.2d 350, 358, 60 P.3d 1192 (2003). The meaning of a statute is also a question of law reviewed de novo. Manary v. Anderson, 176 Wn.2d 342, 350, 292 P.3d 96 (2013).

- b. The Language Of The Statute Shows Current Misdemeanor Convictions For A Domestic Violence Offense Do Not Count Toward The Offender Score.

The purpose of statutory interpretation is to ascertain and carry out the legislature's intent. Manary, 176 Wn.2d at 350. In interpreting a statute, courts start with the plain language of the statute. Valley Environmental Laboratory LLC v. Yakima County, 139 Wn. App. 239, 244, 159 P.3d 491 (2007). "The plain meaning of a statute may be discerned from all that the Legislature has said in the statute and related statutes which disclose legislative intent about the provision in question." Dep't of Ecology v. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C., 146 Wn.2d 1, 11, 43 P.3d 4 (2002).

Washington's Sentencing Reform Act (SRA) creates a grid of standard sentence ranges based upon the defendant's offender score and the seriousness level of the current offense. State v. Ford, 137 Wn.2d 472, 479, 973 P.2d 452 (1999); see RCW 9.94A.510 (sentencing grid). An offender score is the sum of points accrued under RCW 9.94A.525, which includes points for prior convictions and points for other current offenses. RCW 9.94A.525.

RCW 9.94A.525(1) provides "A prior conviction is a conviction which exists before the date of sentencing for the offense for which the

offender score is being computed. Convictions entered or sentenced on the same date as the conviction for which the offender score is being computed shall be deemed 'other current offenses' within the meaning of RCW 9.94A.589."²

RCW 9.94A.525(21) states "If the present conviction is for a felony domestic violence offense where domestic violence as defined in RCW 9.94A.030 was plead and proven, count priors as in subsections (7) through (20) of this section; however, count points as follows: . . . (c) Count one point for each adult prior conviction for a repetitive domestic violence offense as defined in RCW 9.94A.030, where domestic violence as defined in RCW 9.94A.030, was plead and proven after August 1, 2011."

RCW 9.94A.030(41)(a)(ii) defines "repetitive domestic violence offense" to include any "[d]omestic violence violation of a no-contact order under chapter 10.99 RCW that is not a felony offense."

Rodriguez's gross misdemeanor conviction for violating a no-contact order under count II was entered and sentenced on the same date as the felony conviction under count I. CP 27, 52; RP 3-10. Both offenses took place at the same time. CP 14. Under RCW 9.94A.525(1), the gross

² "'Conviction' means an adjudication of guilt pursuant to Title 10 or 13 RCW and includes a verdict of guilty, a finding of guilty, and acceptance of a plea of guilty." RCW 9.94A.030(9).

misdemeanor conviction for violating a no-contact order is a "present conviction," not a "prior conviction for a repetitive domestic violence offense." The gross misdemeanor conviction therefore could not be included in the offender score under RCW 9.94A.525(21)(c).

The superior court concluded otherwise, relying on the emphasized portion of RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a), which states "Except as provided in (b) or (c) of this subsection, *whenever a person is to be sentenced for two or more current offenses, the sentence range for each current offense shall be determined by using all other current and prior convictions as if they were prior convictions for the purpose of the offender score*: PROVIDED, That if the court enters a finding that some or all of the current offenses encompass the same criminal conduct then those current offenses shall be counted as one crime. Sentences imposed under this subsection shall be served concurrently. Consecutive sentences may only be imposed under the exceptional sentence provisions of RCW 9.94A.535."

According to the court and the State, the gross misdemeanor conviction is a "current offense" that must be retreated as a "prior conviction" for purposes of the offender score under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a), thus making it subject to the scoring provision of RCW 9.94A.525(21). CP 50-51; RP 11-19. The language of RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a), however, precludes that conclusion.

The provision under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) that directs courts to treat current offenses as prior offenses for purposes of the offender score only applies to felonies because the statute uses the clause, "the sentence range for *each* current offense." (emphasis added). This language presumes each current offense has a sentencing range to be determined by an offender score. Only felonies have sentence ranges determined by an offender score.³ Misdemeanor convictions do not. RCW 9.94A.525; City of Bremerton v. Bradshaw, 121 Wn. App. 410, 413, 88 P.3d 438 (2004) (SRA does not apply to sentencing of misdemeanors); State v. Bowen, 51 Wn. App. 42, 46, 751 P.2d 1226 (1988) ("The SRA applies only to the sentencing of felony offenders."), review denied, 111 Wn.2d 1017 (1988).

The rule under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) applies when *both* current offenses have a sentencing range, as indicated by the legislature's use of the word "each." Every word of a statute must be given significance. State v. Roggenkamp, 153 Wn.2d 614, 624, 106 P.3d 196 (2005). The superior court's reading of the statute is flawed because it reads the word

³ See RCW 9.94A.010 (the purpose of the Sentencing Reform Act "is to make the criminal justice system accountable to the public by developing a system for the sentencing of felony offenders which structures[.]"); RCW 9.94A.505(1), (2)(a)(i) (when a person is convicted of a felony, the court shall impose a sentence within the standard sentence range established in RCW 9.94A.510); RCW 9.94A.510 (sentencing grid computing sentencing range based on seriousness level of offense and offender score); RCW 9.94A.515 (listing seriousness level of offenses, all of which are felonies).

"each" out of the statute. "[A] court must not interpret a statute in any way that renders any portion meaningless or superfluous." Jongeward v. BNSF R. Co., 174 Wn.2d 586, 601, 278 P.3d 157 (2012).

The remaining language in RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) bolsters Rodriguez's interpretation: "PROVIDED, That if the court enters a finding that some or all of the current offenses encompass the same criminal conduct then those current offenses shall be counted as one crime. Sentences imposed under this subsection shall be served concurrently. Consecutive sentences may only be imposed under the exceptional sentence provisions of RCW 9.94A.535."

In considering the "same criminal conduct" issue, the phrase "those current offenses shall be counted as one crime" must refer to two or more current felony offenses. Current offenses that are the same criminal conduct are treated as one crime for the purpose of computing the offender score for each offense. RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). But no offender score attaches to misdemeanor convictions. The language of the same criminal conduct provision, in using the plural phrase "those current offenses," envisions reciprocity between the two current offenses in terms of reducing the offender score for each of them. See In re Guardianship of Way, 79 Wn. App. 184, 189, 901 P.2d 349 (1995) (use of plural as opposed to singular given effect in interpreting statute), review denied,

128 Wn.2d 1014, 911 P.2d 1343 (1996). This conclusion supports Rodriguez's argument that RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) in total refers only to two current felonies, not one felony and one misdemeanor.

Furthermore, the exceptional sentence provisions of RCW 9.94A.535 for consecutive sentences apply only when both current offenses are felonies. See State v. Whitney, 78 Wn. App. 506, 517, 897 P.2d 374 (court may run misdemeanor conviction consecutive to felony conviction without justifying the consecutive sentence under the SRA because the SRA "applies only to felony sentences and does not limit the judge's discretion in imposing a sentence for a misdemeanor conviction."), review denied, 128 Wn.2d 1003, 907 P.2d 297 (1995).

The inclusion of additional language in RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) that applies when both current offenses are felonies indicates that the prior language on treating each current offense as a prior offense likewise applies when both current offenses are felonies. Under the doctrine of *noscitur a sociis* — a word is known by the company it keeps — "the meaning of words may be indicated or controlled by those with which they are associated." State v. Jackson, 137 Wn.2d 712, 729, 976 P.2d 1229 (1999) (quoting Ball v. Stokely Foods, Inc., 37 Wn.2d 79, 87-88, 221 P.2d 832 (1950)); In re Guardianship of Knutson, 160 Wn. App. 854, 867 n.13, 250 P.3d 1072 (2011). In construing terms in a statute, courts "take into

consideration the meaning naturally attaching to them from the context, and to adopt the sense of the words which best harmonizes with the context." Jackson, 137 Wn.2d at 729 (quoting McDermott v. Kaczmarek, 2 Wn. App. 643, 648, 469 P.2d 191 (1970)). Particular statutory provisions are not read in isolation divorced from context. Campbell & Gwinn, L.L.C., 146 Wn.2d at 10-11.

The context of RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a), construed as a whole, shows the legislature intended it to apply to two or more current felonies rather than one felony and one misdemeanor. That interpretation best harmonizes with the overall context of RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a).

Moreover, only "repetitive" domestic violence offenses are subject to being counted in the offender score. RCW 9.94A.525(21). Repetitive means "repeating." Webster's Third New Int'l Dictionary 1924-25 (1993). Rodriguez committed her two offenses at the same time. She did not commit one domestic violence offense and then commit another at a later time. Her misdemeanor offense did not constitute a serial domestic violence offense.

- c. The Legislative History Shows The Misdemeanor Scoring Rule For "Repetitive Domestic Violence Offenses" Was Meant To Apply To Repeat Offenders, Where The Misdemeanor Offense At Issue Is An Actual Prior Conviction, Not A Current Offense.

The legislative history of RCW 9.94A.525(21)(c) supports Rodriguez's argument that the legislature intended a "repetitive domestic violence offense" to be included in the offender score only when it is an actual prior offense. Comments made by the prime sponsor of the bill and those testifying in support are illuminating. See State v. Evans, 177 Wn.2d 186, 199-203, 298 P.3d 724 (2013) (considering committee hearings as probative of legislative intent); In re Marriage of Kovacs, 121 Wn.2d 795, 807-08, 854 P.2d 629 (1993) (noting the "remarks of . . . a prime sponsor and drafter of the bill" can assist in determining legislative intent); State v. Reding, 119 Wn.2d 685, 690, 835 P.2d 1019 (1992) (legislature's intent may be discerned from legislative bill reports); Lowy v. PeaceHealth, 174 Wn.2d 769, 782, 280 P.3d 1078 (2012) (looking to testimony in bill report to divine legislative intent).

Those comments demonstrate a unified theme that the misdemeanor scoring provision was meant to apply to a small class of people that constitute repeat, recidivist offenders. No one talked about or even hinted that the misdemeanor scoring provision applied to current misdemeanor offenses that are tried and sentenced along with a current

felony offense. The remarks were exclusively made in terms of prior convictions, with no reference to treating a current conviction for a misdemeanor domestic violence offense as a prior conviction for purposes of the offender score. See Hearing on H.B. 2777 Before the H. Pub. Safety & Emergency Preparedness Comm. (Jan. 26, 2010) at 15 min. 50 sec., recording by TVW, Washington State's Public Affairs Network, available at <http://www.tvw.org>.⁴; Hearing on H.B. 2777 Before the H. Pub. Safety & Emergency Preparedness Comm. (Jan. 27, 2010) at 1 hour 11 min. 15 sec.; Hearing on E.S.H.B. 2777 Before the Senate Jud. Comm. (Feb. 23, 2010) at 27 min. 55 sec.; Hearing on E.S.H.B. 2777 Before the Senate Jud. Comm. (Feb. 26, 2010) at 54 min. 24 sec.

The prime sponsor explained "There was a great concern that, when you look at domestic violence, most of the time it's people just lose it, and it's inexcusable what they do to their partner as far as committing acts of violence. But a minority of the time, there are terroristic, repeated acts of, and sometimes it's not violence, it's usually a subtle, manipulative, insidious pattern of coercion and control which can erupt in violence and very often death. And these repeated offenders are the ones we're targeting from this, in this bill." See Hearing on H.B. 2777 Before the H.

⁴ Recordings of all committee hearings cited herein are available at <http://www.tvw.org>.

Pub. Safety & Emergency Preparedness Comm. (Jan. 26, 2010) at 19 min.
48 sec.

The prime sponsor continued, "So the bill here will allow those prior misdemeanors to count. So if you have three or four or however many, it is as if, when you commit a felony offense, so the current offense is a felony offense, a dv offense, and the fiscal effect I'm assuming of this bill won't be felt, and again, it's a relatively small universe of repeat offenders, until future biennia because the -- nothing's gonna take effect until these misdemeanors are committed in the future as well, so this sort of, the scoring system isn't going to be accumulating for offenders until three or four years from now." See Hearing on H.B. 2777 Before the H. Pub. Safety & Emergency Preparedness Comm. (Jan. 26, 2010) at 20 min.
54 sec.

The following day, the sponsor reiterated "This is a sibling to the omnibus domestic violence bill moving through the judiciary committee, follows very much the intent of Representative Pearson's bill coming out of the Attorney General's office to hold accountable the repeat domestic violence offenders. The bill would be counting prior misdemeanors when the current offense is a felony. And that would allow for proper accountability and also incapacitation of these repeat domestic violence

offenders."⁵ See Hearing on H.B. 2777 Before the H. Pub. Safety & Emergency Preparedness Comm. (Jan. 27, 2010) at 1 hour 12 min. 50 sec.

Testimony in support of H.B. 2777 reflects, "This bill is targeting those repeat domestic violence offenders. It is hard to prosecute an offender as a first-time offender when in reality this person has a history of committing domestic-violence-misdemeanor offenses. This bill will allow those prior violations for Assault, Harassment, Stalking, and Violations of a No-Contact Order to now be counted like a felony offense." H.B. Rep. on H.B. 2777 at 3 (testimony in support) (attached as app. B).

A representative from the Washington Association of Prosecuting Attorneys told the House committee "Our issue is that, you know, we'll get an offender in felony court for their first felony, and it's uncomfortable to deal with them like they're a first time offender when we can see this long history of domestic violence assaults. And I think the best part of this bill

⁵ Representative Pearson's bill was E.S.H.B. 2427, which contained an identical scoring provision for "repetitive domestic violence offenses." See E.S.H.B. 2427 Bill Report 2427 at 1, 3-4 (attached as app. A); Hearing on E.S.H.B. 2777 Before the Senate Jud. Comm. (Feb. 23, 2010) at 28 min. 14 sec. Testimony in support of E.S.H.B. 2427 provided "Studies have shown that there is a small group of offenders that recidivate. This bill targets the worst of the worst serial domestic violence abusers. Passage of this legislation will help restore victim confidence in the criminal justice system by putting serial abusers away for a long time and holding them accountable." E.S.H.B. 2427 Bill Report 2427 at 4.

allows us, and allows the court to take into account, the actual history. We're not talking about dealing with allegations, we're talking about actual prior convictions." See Hearing on H.B. 2777 Before the H. Pub. Safety & Emergency Preparedness Comm. (Jan. 26, 2010) at 31 min. 17 sec.

Testifying in support of the bill before the Senate Judiciary Committee, a King County prosecutor gave the "recidivist dv offender" as an example of how the scoring rule on misdemeanors should apply, emphasizing the rule would apply to a "very narrow group of folks." Hearing on E.S.H.B. 2777 Before the Senate Jud. Comm. (Feb. 23, 2010) at 1 hour 19 min. 15 sec. to 25 min. 52 sec.

The legislative history of the bill shows the legislature intended the misdemeanor scoring provision of RCW 9.94A.525(21)(c) to apply to actual prior convictions, not current convictions. The bill targeted repeat offenders; i.e., recidivist offenders who commit domestic violence crimes over a period of time. Rodriguez's gross misdemeanor conviction was a present conviction, not an actual past conviction. The offense for that conviction took place at the same time as her felony offense. Rodriguez had no actual prior domestic violence convictions. CP 14. The scoring provision of RCW 9.94A.525(21)(c) was not meant to apply under such circumstances.

d. The Rule Of Lenity Mandates The Statute Be Construed In Rodriguez's Favor.

Even if the statutory scheme were ambiguous on this point, the rule of lenity applies in favor of Rodriguez. "Under the rule of lenity, any ambiguity in the meaning of a criminal statute must be resolved in favor of the defendant." In re Pers. Restraint of Hopkins, 137 Wn.2d 897, 901, 976 P.2d 616 (1999). "The policy behind the rule of lenity is to place the burden squarely on the legislature to clearly and unequivocally warn people of the actions that expose them to liability for penalties and what those penalties are." State v. Jackson, 61 Wn. App. 86, 93, 809 P.2d 221 (1991).

A statute is ambiguous if it is susceptible to more than one reasonable interpretation. State v. Parent, 164 Wn. App. 210, 212, 267 P.3d 358 (2011). As set forth above, Rodriguez's interpretation of when misdemeanor domestic violence offenses will count in the offender score under RCW 9.94A.525(21)(c) is reasonable. The rule of lenity requires that provision be interpreted in favor of Rodriguez, resulting in an offender score of zero.

e. The Remedy Is Resentencing With An Offender Score Of Zero.

The remedy for a miscalculated offender score is to remand for resentencing based on the correct offender score. Ford, 137 Wn.2d at 485.

Rodriguez is entitled to be resentenced using a correct offender score of zero.

2. THE SUPERIOR COURT LACKED STATUTORY AUTHORITY TO IMPOSE A FIVE YEAR TERM OF PROBATION ON THE GROSS MISDEMEANOR COUNT.

Courts lack inherent authority to suspend a sentence. State v. Clark, 91 Wn. App. 581, 585, 958 P.2d 1028 (1998). The power to suspend a sentence must be granted by the legislature. State v. Bird, 95 Wn.2d 83, 85, 622 P.2d 1262 (1980). "The terms of the statutes granting courts these powers are mandatory; when a court fails to follow the statutory provisions, its actions are void." Clark, 91 Wn. App. at 585.

The superior court had no authority imposing a suspended sentence and attendant probation for a term of five years on the gross misdemeanor conviction. CP 56-57. Defense counsel did not raise this challenge below, but erroneous sentences may be challenged for the first time on appeal. State v. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d 739, 744, 193 P.3d 678 (2008).

Neither the superior court nor the State cited the statutory provision it purported to rely upon to impose the five year term of probation at issue here. Statutory provisions applicable to courts of limited jurisdiction authorize a five year term of probation for domestic

violence offenses. RCW 3.66.068 (district court); RCW 3.50.330 (municipal court).

The suspended sentence statutes applicable to superior courts, however, do not authorize a five year term of probation for such offenses. RCW 9.92.064; RCW 9.95.210(1)(a). The superior court therefore erred in imposing a five year term of probation on Rodriguez for her misdemeanor domestic violence conviction under count II. CP 56-57.

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