A. RESPONSE TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED W INCLUDING A POINT

IN RODRIGUEZS OFFENDER SCORE FOR THE

CONVICTION IN COUNT 11.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUSPENDING

RODRIGUEZ'S SENTENCE ON COUNT 11 FOR 60
MONTHS_

III. THE NO CONTACT ORDER MUST BE AMENDED.

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State agrees with Rodriguez's recitation of the facts.

C. ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN INCLUDING A POINT

IN RODRIGUEZ'S OFFENDER SCORE FOR THE

CONVICTION IN COUNT 11.

Rodriguez argues that the trial court erred in including a point in

her offender score for the gross misdemeanor that she committed, and was

convicted and sentenced for, at the same time as the felony. The State

agrees with Rodriguez.

Rodriguez makes several compelling arguments, each of which the

State agrees with. First, the plain language of the controlling statute, RCW

9.94A.525 (21) supports Rodriguez's interpretation. RCW9.94A.525 (21)

c) instructs the court to count one point for each adult prior conviction for



a repetitive domestic violence offense' that was plead and proven after

August 1, 2011. "Prior conviction" is defined in RCW 9.94A.525 (1) as "a

conviction that exists before the date of sentencing for the offense for

which the offender score is being computed." Subsection (1) goes on to

say "Convictions entered or sentenced on the same date as the conviction

for which the offender score is being computed shall be deemed òther

current offenses' within the meaning of RCW9.94A.589."

The State argued here, and the trial court agreed, that because

RCW9.94A.589 (1) (a) instructs the trial court to treat other current

offenses as though they were prior convictions in order to determine the

standard range for each offense, that means that there is no distinction,

under the SRA, between prior convictions and other current offenses.

Rodriguez shows this is an erroneous reading of RCW9.94A.589.

Because 994A.589 (1) (a) is a statute which instructs the court how to

determine standard ranges, it plainly applies to offenses which are

felonies. With misdemeanors and gross misdemeanors, we simply don't

Repetitive domestic violence offense is defined in RCW 994A.030 (4 1) as an non -
felony domestic violence assault, non - felony domestic violence violation of a no- contact
order under chapter 10.99, non - felony domestic violence violation of a protection order
under chapter 26.09, 26.10, 26.26, or 26.50, non - felony domestic violence harassment,
non - felony domestic violence stalking, or any federal, out -of- state, tribal court, military,
county, or municipal conviction for an offense that would be classified as a repetitive
domestic violence offense under this subsection. Notably, this definition merely outlines
the class of crimes included and does not specify that the convictions must exist prior to
the date of sentencing on the current offense. However, RCW 9.94A.525 (21) clearly
requires that they be "prior convictions."



have the concept of the standard range. We have the maximum penalty

allowed by law and the court is free to sentence an offender to any period

of time up to an including the maximum penalty. There is no "sentence

outside the standard range." Further, the trial court is free to run

misdemeanor sentences consecutive not just to other misdemeanors but to

felonies without it being deemed an "exceptional sentence." See In re

Personal Restraint of VanDeft, 158 Wn.2d 7 739, 147 P.3d 573 (2006)

RCW 9.94A.589 (1) does not apply to misdemeanors or gross

misdemeanors). The reading adopted by the trial court here assumes there

is no difference in the SRA between "prior convictions" and "other current

offenses." If that were so, however, the legislature would not have

bothered to use different terminology to describe them. The legislature

could have merely called them "other offenses," and included a definition

of "other offenses" which included prior convictions and other current

offenses.

Second, the legislative history supports Rodriguez's reading. In

proposing the recidivist domestic violence offender legislation, former

Attorney General Rob McKenna complained that the current sentencing

scheme did not "require judges to take into account the previous

misdemeanor domestic violence convictions of the most dangerous

offenders." Patricia Sully, Taking it Seriously: Repairing Domestic

3



Violence Sentencing in Washington State, 34 Seattle U. L. Rev. 96' ), p. 965

201 citing ROB MCKENNA, WASH. STATE OFFICE OF ATT'Y

GEN., DOMESTIC VIOLENC SENTENCING REFORM: ENHANCED

PENALTIES FOR REPEAT/SERIAL DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

OFFENDERS 2 (2009). Patricia Sully, in Taking is Seriously: Repairing

Domestic Violence Sentencing in Washington State, identified the four

purposes behind HB 2777, the legislation establishing the repetitive

domestic violence offense scoring point:

1) scoring prior misdemeanor domestic violence offenses, (2)
multiplying repeat domestic violence felony convictions, (3)
adding a "serial offender" aggravating circumstance and a "victim-
defendant" mitigating circumstance. Additionally, the domestic
violence designation now needs to be pleaded and proved in order
to conform with Blakely.

Patricia Sully, Taking it Seriously: Repairing Domestic Violence

Sentencinc in Washington State, supra, at 977 (emphasis added). Sullytl

further observed that this law "requires courts to consider an offender's

full criminal record, including past misdemeanor domestic violence

convictions, during sentencing." Id. at 985 (emphasis added). Sully

concludes by saying: "HB 2777 is excellent at what it alms to do: ensure

that chronic domestic violence offenders serve proportional prison

sentences. It is a moderate change, applying to only 10% of those

I



convicted of domestic violence crimes -- repeat offenders with established

records ofabuse." Id. at 992 (emphasis added).

The undersigned counsel acknowledges that there is disagreement

with the position the State is taking in this appeal. Trial counsel for the

State in this case strongly disagrees with the undersigned2 , as does,

evidently, the Caseload Forecast Council which publishes the Adult

Sentencing Guidelines Manual. The current scoring sheet for general

nonviolent offense where domestic violence has been plead and proven (as

well as the scoring sheets for general violent offense where domestic

violence has been plead and prove and general serious violent offense

where domestic violence has been plead and proven) calls for the addition

of a point where the other current offense is a repetitive domestic violence

offense. Of course, the Adult Sentencing Guidelines Manual is not

authority and each scoring sheet contains a disclaimer at the bottom to the

2 I spoke with the current Supervising Attorney for the Domestic Violence Prosecution
Center (DVPC) of the Clark County Prosecuting Attorney's Office. She said that the
recidivist domestic violence offender point is added, she estimated, in about 80% of their
cases because they believe it applies to misdemeanors and gross misdemeanors (which
meet the definition of repetitive domestic violence offense) that are committed at the
same time as the domestic violence felony or felonies an offender is being sentenced on.
This is in stark contrast to the estimated 10% of offenders it was thought would be
affected by this law. (See Sully, supra, at p. 992), and suggests that the legislative intent
of this law was that it would not apply to misdemeanors or gross misdemeanors
committed and sentenced at the same time as the felony or felonies.
3

These scoring sheets are attached as an appendix to this brief.



effect that the Caseload Forecast Council is not liable for any errors which

occur as a result of reliance on the manual.

The undersigned counsel called the Caseload Forecast Council,

which produces the Adult Sentencing Guidelines Manual, and spoke with

research analyst Jennifer Jones. She reiterated the disclaimer noted

above—namely that the publication is not authoritative but rather a

guide—and said that they arrived at the conclusion that "repetitive

domestic violence offenses" include misdemeanor and gross misdemeanor

offenses committed at the same time as the primary offense based solely

on the language of RCW9.94A.589 (1), just as the deputy prosecutor did

here. She said that RCW9.94A.589 (1) pertains to "how offenses should

be scored," and to whether they should be served concurrently or

consecutively. 
4

She concurred with the idea that RCW 994A.589 (1) (a)

collapses any distinction between prior convictions and other current

offenses.

In conclusion, the State in this appeal takes a position that, it is

told, runs counter to the position being taken by prosecutors elsewhere in

the state as well as the drafters of the Sentencing Guidelines Manual. It

4 This error, (should this Court find it to be error), on the scoring sheet would explain the
resistance I got from fellow deputy prosecutors on this issue, as well as the apparent
failure of trial defense counsel to raise this issue consistently (not including trial counsel
here, who did raise this issue at sentencing).C,

0



appears the resolution of this issue by this Court is much needed.

Rodriguez should be resentenced with an offender score of 0.

11. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN SUSPENDING

RODRIGUEZ'S SENTENCE ON COUNT 11 FOR 60

MONTHS.

On Count 11, the trial court ordered that the balance of Rodriguez's

sentence (314 days) would be suspended for 60 months. Rodriguez claims

this was error, and the State agrees. The statutes authorizing a suspension

and probationary period on misdemeanors of 60 months plainly applies

only to courts of limited jurisdiction (RCW 3.66.068) and municipal

courts (RCW3.50.330).

Rodriguez, however, proffers two possible remedies and does not

advocate for one over the other. She argues on the one hand, RCW

9.92.064 (the Suspended Sentence Act) appears only to authorize the

superior court to suspend the sentence for the time that was remaining on

the incarceration term (in this case, 314 days). On the other hand RCW

9.95.210 (the Probation Act) authorizes the superior court to suspend the

sentence for "such a time as it shall designate, not exceeding the

maximum term of sentence or two years, whichever is longer." Rodriguez

5 It should be noted that it appears from the transcript that there was a miscommunication
between the deputy prosecutor and the trial court on this matter. The deputy prosecutor, it
appears, was referring to the felony when speaking about the five year probation whereasZI

the trial court was referring to the gross misdemeanor in Count 11. RP at 5. The transcript
is unclear.

N



is unclear about which of these statutes the trial court relied on, and the

State is equally unsure. It seems odd that the trial court can simply pick

which of the two statutes to rely on, but evidently it can:

Generally speaking, our superior courts use the [Suspended
Sentence Act] when they desire to suspend the execution of
a sentence during the good behavior of a convicted person,
and the [ Probation Act] when they desire to defer the
imposition of a sentence, with a view to an ultimate
dismissal of the charges if the behavior of the convicted
person warrants such action. However, the latter is

available and is used in many instances for the suspension
of the execution of a sentence.

State v. Davis, 56 Wn. 2d 729, 730, 355 P.2d 344, 345 (1960). The Court

went on to observe that the Probation act was not intended to repeal or

replace the Suspended Sentence Act, and "[t]he trial court could have

suspended the appellant's sentence under either statute ... " Davis at 731. A

question frequently presented in cases involving these two statutes is

which act was the trial court relying upon? In Davis, supra, the trial court

did not explicitly state which act it relied upon. Likewise, in State v.

Monday, 12 Wn.App. 429, 430, 5 P.2d 811 (1975) the trial court did not

specify upon which act it relied to suspend execution of the defendant's

sentence. Relying on Davis, the Court of Appeals looked at the differences

between the two acts and found one salient difference: the method of

supervision of the defendant. Under the Suspended Sentence Act, the

defendant would be placed in the charge of "a parole or peace officer

during the term of such suspension," whereas under the Probation Act, the

M



defendant would bc ordered io report tothe supervisor of the division o[

probation and parole n[the department nf institutions nr such officer usthe

supervisor may designate and uau condition n[ said probation iofollow

implicitly the instructions of the supervisor of probation or parole.

Monday g432.Because the trial court, in Monday, explicitly ordered the

defendant &z report inthe Board nf Prison Terms and 9uro}cm, it was clear

that the court suspended the sentence under the Probation Act. Monday at

430."

The two statutes have changed substantially in the intervening

years since Davis and Monday, The misdemeanor judgment and sentence

in this case provides for the defendant &obemo probation. CP56.The

probation imtobe monitored6«oCommunity Corrections Officer o[the

Department of Corrections. CP5h.]i appears that llodriguezs̀sentence

was suspended under RCWq.A5.2lO, the Probation Act. However, the

Suspended Sentence Act contemplates that uu offender would bc put under

the supervision o[a community corrections officer employed by the

departmento[corrections. See RCVVq.q2.060 (l) (x).

o
In the recent case of State v. Parent, 164 Wn.App. 210, 212, 267 P.3d 358 (2011), the

Court nf Appeals noted that ''[u]ndcrRCVV9.92.O6O and DCVV0.952|O. the trial court
has discretionary authority to suspend a defendant's sentence and place the defendant on
probation." In that case, it was evidently clear that the trial court relied upon the
Probation Act tn suspend the defendant's sentence. Id.

9



If this Court is unable to determine which act Rodriguez's sentence

was suspended under, the case should be remanded to the trial court to

clarify upon which act it relied.

111. THE NO CONTACT ORDER MUST BE AMENDED.

The State agrees with Rodriguez that the no contact order currently

exceeds the maximum allowable time for it to remain in effect. Likewise,

the State, like Rodriguez, is unsure about what the proper expiration of the

no contact order should be because we don't know whether the suspended

in this case is governed by the Suspended Sentence Act or the Probation

Act. If this Court is unable to resolve that question, the trial court, on

remand, must specify an expiration of the no contact order which does not

exceed the suspension period allowed by law.

D. CONCLUSION

Rodriguez must be resentenced.